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1 Name at Property 

historic name Richards and Conover Hardware Company Building 

other names/site number Jax Fixture & Supply Company Building 

street & number 200 West 5th Street 
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0MB No. 1 0024-0018 

[n/a] not for publication 

[n/a] vicinity 

state Missouri code MO county Jackson code 095 zip code 64105 

3 State(Eedecal Agency Certification 

State or Fe era agency and bureau 
In mv opinion, the propertv r ] meets \ l does not meet the National Register criteria. 
( See continuation sheet fbraaditiona comments [ ].) 

Signature of certifying official/T1tle 

State or Federal agency and bureau 
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I hereby certify that the property is: 

[ ] entered in the National Register 
See continuation sheet ( ]. 

[ ] determined eligible for the 
National Register 
See continuation sheet h ]. 

] determined not eligible for t e 
National Regisler. 

[ ] removed from me 
National Register 

[ ] other, explain 
See continuation sheet ( ]. 
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5 Classification 

Ownership of Property 

[X] private 
[ ] public-local 
[ ] public-State 
[ ] public-Federal 

Category of Property 

[X] building(s) 
[ ] district 
[ ] site 
[ ] structure 
[ ] object 

Name of related multiple property listing. 

n 
6 E11nction or Ilse 
Historic Function 
Commerce/Trade/specialty store 

Architectural Classification 
Commercial Style 
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Number of Resources within Property 
Contributing Noncontributing 

__ 1,___ _____ o"-----__ buildings 

--"---------~O~ __ sites 

__ O"---------~O~ __ structures 

-----'"----------"---objects 

__ 1'-------"'---Total 

Number of contributing resources 
previously listed in the National 
Register. 

0 

Current Functions 
Commerce/Trade specialty store 

Materials 
foundation .!!lim'-'--'-"e"'s..,,to<.!.n,.,.e~--­
walls bric!< 

stone 
root asphalt other _________ _ 

Narrative Desc.riotion 
(Describe the n,stonc !ind current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) 
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8 Statement of Significance 

Applicable National Register Criteria 

[X] A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history 

[ J B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 

( ] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a 
type, period, or method of construction or represents the 
work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or 
represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose 
components lack individual distinc1ion. 

[] D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history. 

Criteria Considerations 

Property is: 

[ ] A owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes. 

[] B removed from its original location. 

[] C a birthplace or grave. 

[] D a cemetery. 

[] E a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

[] F a commemorative property. 

(JG less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years. 

Areas of Significance 
Commerce 

Periods of Significance 
1902-1948 

Significant Dates 
1902-1903 
circa 1928 

Significant Person(s) 
na 

Cultural Affiliation 
na 

Architect/Builder 
Shepard and Farrar [1902-1903 unit] 

Narrative Statement of Significance 
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) 

9 Major Bibliograpbic References 

Biblioaraoh~ . . . . . . 
(Cite thErb0<lks, articles and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more cont1nuat1on sheets.) 

Previous documentation on file (NPS): 
[ l oreliminary determination of individual listing 
\36' CFR 67) has been requested 

[ ] previously listed in the National Register 

[ ] previously determined eligible by the National Register 

[ ] designated a National Historic Landmark 

[ ] recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey 
# -

[ ] recorded by Historic American Engineering Record 
# _________________ _ 

Primary location of additional data: 

[X] State Historic Preservation Office 

( ] Other State Agency 

[ ] Federal Agency 

[ ] Local Government 

[ ] University 

[XI Other: 

Name of repository: Kansas City Public Library 
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l n Geographical Data 

Acreage of Property less than one acre 

UTM References 

A.Zone 

15 

C. Zone 

Easting 

362900 

Easting 

Northing 

4329960 

Northing 

Verbal Boundary Description 
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.) 

B.Zone 

D.Zone 

Boundary Justification 
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.) 

11 Forro Prepared By 

name/title Cydney E. Millstein 

organization Architectural and Historical Research 

street & number P.O. Box 22551 

Easting Northing 

Easting Northing 

[ ] See continuation sheet 

date August 1998 

telephone 816/363-0567 
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city or town Kansas City stateuM,.,,O.,__ ___ zip code~6~4~1~1 =3 _____ _ 

Additional Documentation 
Submit the following items with the completed form: 

Continuation Sheets 

Maps 

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location. 
A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. 

Photographs 

Representative black and white photographs of the property. 

Additional Items 
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items) 

Property Owner 
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.) 

name Jack, Francis, Richard, and Darryl Taylor 

street & number 200-24 West 5th Street 

city or town Kansas City 

telephone 816/842-4230 

state..1.M!!.!O""--____ zip code~6~4~1~0=5~------
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SUMMARY 
The Richards and Conover Hardware Company building, located at 200 W. 5th 
Street, Kansas City, Missouri, is a six-story brick and stone commercial 
building sited on the northwest corner of the intersection of 5th and 
Wyandotte streets. The ~L"-shaped facility measures approximately 80 feet at 
the south facade, 135 feet at the north facade, and 164 feet at the east 
facade. Situated to the west of the National Register listed Old Town Historic 
District, the building is sited north of the I-70 downtown loop. To the west 
of the building is a parking lot and adjacent to the north are adjoining non­
historic, one-story brick commercial buildings. 

ELABORATION 
Designed by the Kansas City firm of Shepard and Farrar and constructed in 
1902-03, the Richards and Conover building reflects early 20th century 
conunercial design with its two-part vertical block. The exterior is clearly 
divided horizontally into two distinct zones where the lower zone serves as a 
"visual base for the dominant shaft or upper zone" (Longstreth, 82) which is 
treated as a unified whole. The upper stories are given vertical emphasis by 
the overall uninterrupted wall surface highlighted by the rusticated and 
contrasting quoining at the primary facades. A thin stringcourse, separating 
the attic level from the sixth story, underscores the decorative terminus. 
Despite some reversible modifications to the exterior, the building's 
integrity of design, materials and workmanship has been retained in order to 
convey its historic identity and character. 

The main or primary facades of the original 1902-03 Richards and Conover 
building face south and east and feature corresponding vocabulary. The main 
entrance, displaying aluminum sheathing and canopy supported by buttress-like 
piers, aluminum framed double-door entrance, sidelights and transom (far east 
bay of the south facade), and a plate glass window (far south bay of the east 
facade) is modified from the original, canted unit. Prominent wood storefront 
fenestration (spanning five bays at the south facade and nine bays at the east 
facade), feature paired, plate glass windows with paneled wood bulkheads, set 
below paired, fixed transoms. Each unit is slightly recessed and is separated 
by rusticated brick piers resting on stone plinths. The transom units at the 
south facade have been obscured by wood paneling, while the following 
individual storefront bays of the east facade (counting n-s) are slightly 
varied in their design as follows: the first bay features transoms divided 
into four lights and the fourth and fifth bays feature a tripartite 
configuration---the fourth bay with an operable centrally placed transom and 
single entry with sidelight, the fifth bay features a single-hung, one-over­
one, centrally placed window below the transom ar<~a. 
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Upper story fenestration of the south and east facades are aluminum-framed 
with a fixed upper unit and smaller, sliding units at the base. The units at 
the second through fifth stories feature contrasting brick quoining, while the 
sixth story windows display quoined surrounds with keystones. All units 
exhibit stone sills. The upper story is separated from the storefront level by 
a terra-cotta, egg and arrow and bead and reel molded water table. A 
continuous sheet metal cornice with modillions resting above dentils 
terminates the primary facades. 

The north and west facades of the main unit feature a modest arrangement of 
metal, double-hung, sash two-over-two windows with stone lug sills. There are 
two colUI1U1s of windows centrally placed at the north or rear facade. Partially 
visible at the first story are segmental arched windows that have been 
bricked-in. The west facade displays a single colUI1U1 of fenestration at the 
far north bay, some slightly modified from the original with one-over one 
panes. Two non-original metal door entrances reached by a metal staircase are 
placed above the ground level. 

Fenestration at the west and south facades of the "boot" of the "L" is similar 
to that of the north and west facades of the main unit, with slight · 
variations. The basement windows visible at the rough-cut, stone foundation 
level at both facades are recessed, double-hung, two-over-two sash, and 
covered with metal security bars. Partially visible above the basement windows 
are segmental arches. The west facade exhibits three colUI1U1s of original 
fenestration and a single, non-original wood door entrance at the far north 
bay. Modified fenestration of the first story of the south facade {counting w­
e) includes the fourth bay which is bricked in and the fifth bay, altered to a 
shorter one-over-one unit. The two columns of the remaining upper story units 
follow original two-over-two design except for the window at the far west bay 
of the 3rd floor, modified to a one-over-two unit. 

Constructed c. 1928 is the one-story, flat roofed, brick unit, six bays wide 
and twelve bays deep, adjoining the west facade of the original 1902-03 
building. The main facade of this unit faces south and features a recessed, 
aluminum-framed, double-door entrance·at the far east bay, reached by a series 
of concrete steps. Storefront fenestration is non-original, aluminum-framed 
plate glass with modern wooden hood molding. Fenestration of the west and 
north facades is multipaned, industrial metal sash with centrally-placed 
hopper units and brick sills. Windows at the west facade have been obscured by 
mesh screening and security grates. A non-original wood overhead door and 
entry are located at the far north bays of the west facade. Paired, bi-fold 
wood paneled freight doors are placed at the far west bay of the north or rear 
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facade. Terra-cotta and concrete coping at the west and south facades, 
respectively. 

A non-original, one-story, flat roofed addition with concrete foundation is 
placed at the north or rear facade of the 1902-1903 building. Cladded in 
rolled asphalt, the building features three wood paneled overhead doors and 
metal loading docks at the north facade. 

Additional elements of the Richards and Conover Hardware Company building 
include a prominent exterior brick chircmey at the rear facade, a two-bay wide 
metal fire-escape at the east facade, and a brick water tower with a circular 
metal platform. 

The interior of the original 1902-03 unit of the Richards and Conover Hardware 
Company Building consists of unfinished warehouse space; columns, supports and 
brick walls are exposed throughout. The interior of the c. 1928 addition has 
been modified from the original with office partitions. 
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Richards & Conover Hardware Company. From the cover of Hardware and Farm 

Equipment, March 1957. 

Headquarters of the yast Richards & Co..o.,er Hardware Company are 

located 11t 5th and Wyandotte in Kans.as City, Mo. The plant is pictured here 

on the 100th anniyenary of the company. A complete history of the 'R.ieh­

Con operotiot1 is recorded on pages 14-15. 

MARCH, 1957 
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SUMMARY: 

Richards and Conover Hardware Co. Building 
Jackson County, MO 

The Richards and Conover Hardware Company building is significant for listing 
in the National Register of Historic Places under Criteria A and is 
significant in the following area: COMMERCE. Constructed in 1902-03 (with a 
ca. 1928 addition), for the Richards and Conover Hardware Company, Kansas 
City, Missouri, the building is significant because it reflects the growth and 
fortunes of the business during its period of greatest expansion and 
prominence. The building located at 5th and Wyandotte Streets was the third 
location of the Richards and Conover Hardware Company, a wholesale business 
which began in Leavenworth, Kansas Territory, in 1857. Housed at this location 
for over fifty-five years, Richards and Conover Hardware Company is a renowned 
and exceptional example of the wholesale hardware jobbers trade, reaching its 
zenith during the first decades of the twentieth century in Kansas City. 
Because of continued success throughout its history, the Richards and Conover 
Hardware Company became known as one of the nation's oldest and largest 
wholesale hardware, iron and steel distributors, covering western Missouri, 
Western Arkansas, southern Nebraska, Kansas, Colorado, Wyoming, northern 
Texas, New Mexico and Arizona. Additionally, the building remains the sole 
surviving historic property constructed by the company. Today, the company 
claims the distinction of being the oldest continuously existing commercial 
enterprise in Kansas City. The period of significance is 1902-1948, the end 
date established by the National Register's arbitrary fifty year limit. 

ELABORATION: 
Originally known as J.F. Richards and Company, the Richards and Conover 
Hardware Company was established by the pioneer hardware merchant John 
Francisco Richards, a native of Virginia. Along with his family, Richards 
emigrated from Warm Springs, Bath County Virginia, to Sibley, Missouri, in 
1849, at the age of fifteen. Upon the death of his parents, he managed to work 
in a small store at Sibley near the abandoned site of Fort Osage, an old 
Indian fur-trading point. Following a year of schooling at an academy in 
Pleasant Hill, Cass County, Richards traveled to the Pacific northwest with an 
Indian trader as a wagon train guide. On his return to Missouri, he landed a 
job with the St. Louis hardware firm of Child, Pratt and Company, the largest 
wholesale hardware dealer in the city, in 1854. Looking toward Leavenworth, 
Kansas, for new marketing possibilities, Child, Pratt put Richards aboard the 
steamer "New Lucyn, providing him with a letter of credit and $1700 worth of 
merchandise in 1857. Arriving on March 4, Richards immediately launched his 
business in a building sized 12 by 40 feet. A poster conceived by Richards 
advertised plows, horsepower mills and the combined mower and reaper . 
"hardware for the emigrants, farmers and the whole of Kansas and 
Missouri."(Journal-Post, September 6, 1925). Richards' journals of his early 
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years in business "reflect time spent on horseback combing the adjacent 
counties seeking collection of past due payments on corn shellers, wagon 
accessories, and other large farm equiprnent.u (Worley, 2). Richards also 
traveled to St. Louis on buying trips via the steamboat "White Cloud" and 
later on the main line of the Hannibal & St. Joseph Railway. After three years 
of successful trade, by the close of 1860, Richards net worth totaled almost 
$14,000. 

At the end of the Civil War, Richards hired New Jersey native John Conover as 
the company's first traveling salesman. He did his traveling on horseback; his 
territory reached the Rockies and his trips sometimes lasted three months. 
Newspaper accounts reported that Conover was "on the road" for five years and 
that he was, perhaps, "the first traveling salesman known in the entire west." 
(Journal-Post, September 6, 1925). Despite the effectiveness of Conover's 
travels and a burgeoning trade, it became clear to Richards that Leavenworth 
was not destined to become the railroad center that he had hoped it would. The 
Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad had chosen Kansas City as the site for 
its bridge across the Missouri River (now known as the Hannibal Bridge), 
opening a direct route to Chicago on July 4, 1869. 

With the coming of the railroad to Kansas City, Richards knew what had to be 
accomplished in order to keep a competitive edge. In 1875 he opened J.F. 
Richards and Company as a small wholesale location at 425 Delaware (demolished 
c. 1990)) in Kansas City, Missouri, with Conover as manager. Richards expanded 
the Kansas City business in 1878 with the buy-out of a competitor, D.A. Knight 
and Company. This pattern of "taking advantage of opportunities to consolidate 
the company position when purchase opportunities developed" (Worley, 5), has 
been the company's philosophy throughout its prosperous history. 

In 1881, Richards convinced his son, Walter, who had been attending Cornell 
University, to join him the growing business as secretary. To accomplish this, 
and to acknowledge the central role played by John Conover in expanding the 
wholesale side of the business through the Kansas City location, John Richards 
reorganized the company as Richards and Conover Hardware Company and moved the 
Kansas City branch to a larger quarters at the southeast corner of 5th and 
Wyandotte (demolished c. 1996). Two years later, when the Richards decided to 
expand his presence in the wholesale hardware trade, the company bought out an 
Atchison, Kansas, competitor, Western Hardware Company and assumed control of 
its inventory valued at over $75,000. Much of the inventory was transferred to 
the Kansas City location. In 1884, acknowledging the decline of the Kansas 
operation, Richards sold the Leavenworth interests and moved his family to 
Kansas City. Following a national trend, Richards converted his hardware 
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business entirely as a wholesale trade; much of the company's merchandise was 
stocked at a four-story warehouse located at the corner of Union Avenue and 
Hickory Street. 

The mid-1880s were boom years for Kansas City, and the wholesale hardware 
business reflected that economic growth. At the height of the boom in 1886, a 
promotional book, written by S. Ferd Howe and published by the Chamber of 
Commerce that same year, described the Kansas City wholesale hardware trade as 
follows: 

The wholesale hardware business of Kansas City is both prosperous and 
progressive. There are jobbing houses engaged in this line and the 
amount of business annually transacted amounts to fully $3,500,000. 
The rapid settlement of the West, the consta~t acquisition of new 
territory to this market and the steady building demands of Kansas City 
all tend to increase trade in this line and to extend the operations of 
the houses engaged in this business . . Unlike the eastern houses, who 
seem to consider that anything is good enough for the west, and who got 
into the habit of sending low grade goods under high sounding names to 
this market, the Kansas City firms sold nothing but the best, and 
nothing under false or deceptive names. In consequence they have not 
only gained complete control of the entire trade of the territory 
westward that is naturally tributary to this city, but they are 
constantly extending the area of the trade both in the north and south. 

In his book, Howe also highlighted Richards and Conover, extolling the 
business uis of great magnitude and covers a vast extent of territory.u 
Merchandise included tinner's stock, cutlery, iron, steel, nails, scales, 
safes, circular saws, barbed and plain fence wire, springs and axles, etc. In 
Theodore Case's History of Kansas City (1888), the annual sales of the company 
were reported at $1,250,000, more than a third of the combined sales of the 
entire wholesale hardware trade in Kansas City in 1886. 

Throughout the United States, there was a growing reliance on the full-line, 
full-service wholesaler like Richards and Conover. As American manufacturers 
replaced imported goods in the market, from the 1860s through the 1880s, 
producers increasingly turned to the full-line wholesaler to distribute their 
output. American producers of manufactured goods turned from the commissioned 
agent of jobbers, like Richards and Conover, who became an important link 
between the American manufacturer of hardware and the retail trade. The role 
of the jobber, which originally referred to a merchant who "broke downu the 
large lots of imported goods for sale to retailers, was that of the middleman 
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who took title to goods, carried a large assortment of rn~rchandi~~, and 
provided such services as credit and traveling salesmen. These wholesalers or 
jobbers proved themselves much more adept at distributing and marketing 
consumer goods made in other parts of the country and in Europe. Wholesalers 
such as Richards and Conover, Emery-Waterhouse, Portland, Maine (established 
1842), Orgill, Inc., Memphis (established 1847), Bostwick-Brawn, Toledo 
(established 1855), and McGregor Hardune, Springfield, Missouri (established 
1860), are examples of companies that became closely tied to the American 
manufactures of hardware during a time of a rapidly industrializing economy. 

Mushrooming urban populations throughout the Midwest which brought about an 
increase in the demand for mass-produced, brand name goods, had a direct 
effect on the industry as a whole. In Kansas City the success of these 
jobbers, such as Richards and Conover, ~was a natural result of being at the 
nation's geographic center with transportation lines in every direction." 
(Schirmer and McKenzie, 50). Taking advantage of improving railroad 
transportation, wholesalers utilized traveling salesmen to carry and introduce 
products to the retail trade. 

But by 1889 the economic boom was over. The depression of the early 1890s had 
a profound impact on the hardware industry and Richards and Conover was no 
exception. Hardware prices had dropped 10 to 20 percent in the early years of 
the 1890s, and the failure of many retailers had left wholesalers with overdue 
accounts and unpaid notes. Overall, the demand for hardware plummeted. In 
spite of these conditions, Richards and Conover regained its lost ground and 
expanded its available stock. In 1894, the company carried over a few thousand 
items and maintained forty employees on the payroll. 

Then in 1902 it was announced that the company would construct a new facility 
just across the street to the north and west to house the hardware concern's 
growing stock. Designed by Kansas City architects Shepard and Farrar and 
constructed by William Davis in 1902-03, the six-story, 95,000 square foot 
building marked a new era for the company. For the first time in Richard and 
Conover's history all of the available stock could be consolidated into one 
location, which in turn, dramatically improved the company's efficiency and 
sales. It was important, too, because the company maintained their location 
adjacent to the original market square of Kansas City, accessible to rail 
connections. Stock included light and heavy hardware, sporting goods, sewing 
machines, hollowware, sheet and iron roofing, harness, paints and contractor's 
supplies. 
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From the year of the opening of their new store to 1928, Richards and Conover 
Hardware Company saw their business flourish. During this period of growth, 
the company's fortunes remained secure. The settlement of Oklahoma, the Texas 
Panhandle, and eastern New Mexico provided a healthy extension of the 
company's sales staff primarily along the route of the Santa Fe Railroad and 
lines intersecting with it through the Southwest. Subsequently, because of the 
marked success of their trade to the southwestern states, Richards and Conover 
opened a branch operation (both retail outlet and wholesale center) in 
Oklahoma City in 1906. 

While Richards and Conover's business was burgeoning, the majority of the 
jobbers in Kansas City ~felt the pinch of a shrinking trade area after World 
War I, as retailers found suppliers closer to home . ." (Schirmer and 
McKenzie, 223). Because rival urban centers were developing throughout the 
nation, it became much more convenient to trade with these new urban areas' 
wholesale firms. 

By 1928, the annual sales of Richards and Conover reached $10 million and the 
company employed over 400 people. At any given time, the main Kansas City 
warehouse held between $2 and $3 million worth of merchandise. The company's 
sales force, which expanded as well, consisted of sixty-seven individuals who 
covered the following territories: western Missouri, western Arkansas, 
southern Nebraska, Kansas, Colorado, northern Texas including the panhandle, 
New Mexico, Wyoming and Arizona. Nationwide, the hardware trade shifted to 
that of the city dweller, because farmers were receiving lower prices for 
their farm products, resulting in less of a need for supplies and hardware. 

Richards and Conover's pattern of profitability that was so pronounced in the 
first decades of the twentieth century (which prompted the company to build a 
one-story office addition to the main building, c. 1928), came to a complete 
halt in 1930. Dividends on corrrrnon stock that paid as much as 25% in 1919 
plurrrrneted to zero throughout the Depression. Gross sales declined to just over 
$3.2 million in 1932 and bankers refused to provide refinancing even with 
offers of personal guarantees. There was a slight upswing in sales in 1937. 
Two years later, sales began to rebound in earnest with the threat of World 
War II. 

In the irrrrnediate post-war years, sales increased dramatically as a result of 
pent-up demand for hardware and building products in general. From 1946 
through 1948, Richards and Conover and other wholesale hardware companies 
profited from this trend. By 1949, the surplus demand had been met; sales and 
profits dropped somewhat. Several changes in the buying habits of Americans 
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and in the makeup of the wholesaling world accounted for these difficulties. 
After World War II, Americans generally and residents of the Midwest and 
Southwest, in particular, were ready to spread out, build new houses and 
generally consume the goods flowing off American production lines. The 
expanded number of homeowners, swelled by the availability of FHA and VA 
loans, tended to own more cars and paid more attention to price than to dealer 
loyalty or conunercial quality. Longtime Kansas City hardware wholesalers like 
Townley Hardware (established 1884) joined with other wholesalers to form 
buying groups and regional warehouses under the Sentry Hardware brand. 
Similarly, another competitor, True Value Hardware, a cooperatively-owned 
buying company began to take business away from Richards and Conover. In 
addition to these new chains, drug stores, the early discount stores, and even 
groceries carried more and more traditional hardware. These stores bought 
directly through the manufacturer, bypassing the merchandise, and thus the 
role of the robber, that Richards and Conover could supply. 

Another important change in Richards and Conover's business occurred in 1953 
when the company built it first separate steel division warehouse at St. John 
and Bennington avenues in northeast Kansas City, separating its steel 
operations from wholesale hardware. While the company had long dealt in small 
amounts of steel and other bulk metals as needed by contractors and hardware 
stores, this was not a significant part of the business until the 1950s. As 
late as the early 1950s, steel accounted for no more than 5% of the company's 
gross sales. President Samuel Locke Sawyer, great-grandson of founder J.F. 
Richards, decided that the company had to change its direction or simply fold, 
so in 1958, the company approved abandonment of the firm's wholesale hardware 
operations and liquidated its hardware business entirely. Subsequently, the 
company transferred its headquarters from its 5th and Wyandotte building to 
the industrial steel warehousing plant on St. John Avenue. The closing of the 
wholesale hardware trade allowed Sawyer to gain control of the steel segment 
of the company's sales. In 1957, the last full year of combined business, 
Richards and Conover had gross sales of $15 million and had over 400 people on 
its payroll. Rich-Con, as the company is now called, continues to operate its 
steel business from the St. John headquarters. 

It should be noted that pioneer merchant John F. Richards, the founder of 
Richards and Conover Hardware Company, was also vice-president and one of the 
founders of the First National Bank of Kansas City, and a member of the Kansas 
City Board of Park Commissioners from 1900 to 1904. Additionally, Richards 
participated in the Battle of Westport, October 23, 1864. 

Currently, there are proposed plans for the renovation of the Richards and 
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Conover Hardware Company building. These plans are being prepared in 
accordance with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation 
by Duncan Architects, Inc., Kansas City, Missouri, for the deveroper, Jeffrey 
E. Smith Companies. Once the proposed plans are completed, they will be sent 
to the Historic Preservation Program, Missouri Department of Natural Resources 
for their review. 
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10. Geographical Description 
-------------------=========----------------------==========================-= 
Verbal Boundary Description: 
All of Lot 238, Block 24; Lots 1 to 7 and the East 5 feet of the vacated alley 
West of and adjoining Lot 7, and all the vacated alley lying North of and 
adjoining said premises which lies East of a line 141 feet West of the West 
line of Wyandotte Street; Lots 8 to 14, except that part of Lots 8 and 9 
conveyed to Kansas City, Missouri, for alley and all the vacated alley lying 
North of and adjoining Lots 12 to 14; except that part of said premises in 
Fifth Street; THEOS. CASE'S SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 234, 235, 236, AND 237, Block 
24 Old Town, a subdivision in Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri. 

Boundary Justification: 
The nominated property includes the entire parcel historically associated with 
the Richards and Conover Hardware Company building, including the one-story 
addition constructed c. 1928. 
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